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UNITED STATES DISTRI CT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

THE DESA GROUP, INC.
Plaintiff, X Civil Action No.: 15-0411(RC)
V. : Re Document Na: 14, 20

U.S. SMALL BUSINESS
ADMIN ISTRATION,

Defendant.

MEMORANDUM OPINION

GRANTING PLAINTIFF 'SMOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT ; AND DENYING DEFENDANT’S
M OTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT

I. INTRODUCTION

Plaintiff The Desa Group, Inc. (“TDG”) initiated this action under tloendistrative
Procedure Act (“APA”), 5 U.S.C. 88 7@t seq,. alleging that Defendamihe United States Small
Business Administration (“the SBA”) acted arbitrarily and capricipusterminating TDG from
a preferential contracting program for socially andneenically disdvantaged small businesses,
called the Section 8(a) Business Development Program (“the Section@jegm”). To be
eligible for the Section 8(a) program, a business mustibeohditionally owned and controlled
by one or more socially aretonomically disadvantaged individualsl3 C.F.R.8 124.101 A
nondisadvantaged entity or individual may be found to control aabssj however, when
“[b] usiness relationships exist with ndisadvantaged individuals or entities which cause such
depardence that the applicant or Participant cannot exercise independemds judgment
without great economic risk.Td. 8 124.106(g)(4).TDG is run by Dionne Fleshman and Ms.

Fleshman’s mother, Diane Sumpter, runs a separate company, DES#&ydhgaduated from
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the Section 8(a) program in 1994t times, the two firms have contracted or subcontracted with
one another, and their business enterprises appear to be connected sothepbways.The
SBA terminated TDG from th8ection 8(a) programtaf the agency concluded that the
connections between TDG and DESA indicated that TDG was undulpdieqtecon DESA.
TDG does not dispute that there are contacts between the two Bumhshe company
claims that the SBA acted arbitrarily and capriciously in determithiagthose connections
indicate business relationships that cause TDG to be so dependent otHaESBG is unable
to exercise its own independent business judgment without goeadrac risk. See e.g, Pl.’s
Mem.P. & A. Supp. Mot. Summ. &t 9(“Pl.’'s Mem. Supp.”), ECF No. 4. After a thorough
review of the record, the Court agrees that the SBA has failed to @tieutational connection
between the evidence in tadministraive record and its conclusion that TDG is unduly
dependent on DESA. Accordingly, the Court will grant TDG’s omfor summary judgment

and will deny the SBA’s crosmotion for summary judgment.

II. FACTUAL BACKGROUND
A. Statutory and Regulatory Background
Sedion 8(a) of the Small Business Act authorizes the SBA to entepintturement
contracts with the federal government, and then subcontract thes pBAdGrmance of those

contracts to a “socially and economically disadvantaged smalidassi 15 U.S.(8

1 As noted, Ms. Sumpter and DESA had previouslyigipgted in the Section 8(a)
program. The SBA'’s regulations provide that “[o]nce a concern or disadyehtndividual
upon whom eligibility was based has participated in the 8(a) BDramggheither the concern
nor that individual will be eligible agaih 13 C.F.R. § 124.108(b). Furthermaif@]n
individual who uses his or her ctimme eligibility to qualify a concern for the 8(a) BD program
will be considered a nedisadvantaged individual for ownership or control purposes of another
applicant or Paitipant” 1d. § 124.108(b)(3).



637(a)(1§A)—<B). The Section 8(aprogramis intended “to assist eligible small disadvantaged
business concerrjto] compete in the American economy through business development.” 13
C.F.R. 8 124.1 To administethe Section 8(a) program, tB8A haspromulgated regulations
which set forthamong other thingshe program’seligibility requirements.See generall{3
C.F.R.88 124.1et seq.In order to be eligible for the Section 8(a) progratmisinessnust be
“a small business which is unconditaly owned and controlled by one or more socially and
economically disadvantaged individuals who are of good character aaahgiof and residing
in the United States, and which demonstrates potential for sucdds8§8.124.101.The
regulations further specityosecircumstances in whichlausinesswill or will not be considered
“controlled” by a socially and economically disadvantaged individ@d most relevance to this
case, a participatingusinessmust bemanaged on a futime basis by one or more
disadvantaged individuals who possess requisite management tigsabild. § 124.106(a)(1).
Despite such managemefjhjon-disadvantaged individuals or entities may be found to control
or have the power to control’” a busin@ssertain circumstances, including when {biness
relationships exist with nedisadvantaged individuals or entities which cause such dependence
that the applicant or Participant cannot exercise independent $gigidgment without great
economic risk Id. § 124.106(g)(4).

A business that is admitted to the program may participate &madf nine yearsSee
id. 8 124.2. During its participatiothe business must “maintain its program eligibility” and
“must inform SBA of any changes that wouldivarsely affect its program eligibility.1d.
Moreover, dusinessnay be terminated from the program prior to the expiration of the nine
year term “for good causeld. § 124.303(a). Among the examples of good cause listed in the

SBA's regulations ara business’ failure “for any reason . . . to maintaamership, fulitime



dayto-day management, and control by disadvantaged individuals businesdailure “to
disclose to SBA the extent to which ndisadvantaged persons or firms participatden t
management of the Participant business coritdch § 124.303(a)(3), (a)(5).
B. TDG's Participation in the Section 8(a) Program

TDG contracts with federal and state agencies, as well as private corpgragiprovide
“conference support servicesConpl. 18, ECF No. 1. TDG was certified as a participant in the
Section 8(a) program ddeptember 30, 2010, for a nigear term thatvas slated tend in
September 2019SeeA.R. 140; Comply 13. TDG was deemed eligible for the program based
on thestatus of theompany’sPresident and CEO, Dionne Fleshman, as a “disadvantaged
individual” as defined in the Small Business A8eeA.R. 377 Ms. Fleshman’s mother, Diane
Sumpter, runs a separate, but similarly named, company: DESA InNcCSADE Seead. at 169,
195. Ms. Sumpter and DESA were previously participants in the Section i@@)am, and
DESA graduated from the program in March 19$2ed. at 169. Shortly before TDG was
approved as a Section 8(a) participant, the SBA contacted Msnfdagb ask, among other
things, whether “any immediate family members own a businessrdral/e ever participaddn
the 8(a) program.d. at 193. Ms. Fleshman responded, &mail explaining that her mother,
Ms. Sumpter, “owns the company, DESA, |nghich graduated from the 8(a) program about 13
years ago in 1997.1d. at195. Ms. Fleshman further asserted that TDG “has no dependence on
DESA, Inc., other than the company being one of my customersdisridsedhat during the
2010 calendar yedrevenues from DESA, Inc. amount to slightly less than 25% of my
company'’s revenues,” but thebG and DESA'have no common directors, no common
officers, no common shareholders and no common employees” and aeel lac&eparate

physical locations.”ld.



On October 11, 2012, the SBA’s Office of Program Re\(i\WPR”) received a
complaint on its tip hotline which alleged that Ms. Fleshman did ook Wwll-time for TDG, but
worked at both TDG and DESASeeid. at 169. The complainant further claimed tHRESA’s
CEO, Ms. Sumpter, was “doing the real managing at [TBQH After receiving the
complaint,Solomon Wheeler, a member of the OPR staff, conducted a review of TDG’s
continued eligibility to participate in the Section 8(a) program. Asqidhat review, Mr.
Wheeler senMs. Fleshman &lovember 7, 2012 letter posingeariesof questions and directing
Ms. Fleshman to provide responses and, in some cases, documer8atohat 316-17 Ms.
Fleshman responded to the letter on November 27, 26é8d. at 181-85;see alsad. at 186—
315 (reproducing attachmentg)fter reviewing Ms. Fleshman'’s responses, and as a regtst of
investigation, OPR ultimately recommended that the SBA Southi@amistrict Office
("SCDQ") issue a letter of intent to terminate TDG from the Sa@i@) program.Seed. at
169-75.

On February 14, 2018he SCDOsenta letter to Ms. Fleshman informing her that the
SBA intended to terminate TDG’s particifmn in the Section 8(a) progranseegenerallyid. at
428-40. That étter set fortrapproximatelya dozergrounds thathe SCDCclaimed established
good cause to terminate TDG from the Section 8(a) prog&ems.id.see alsd3 C.F.R. §
124.303(a)(1)-40) (detailing examples of “good cause”). Because several grounds were

abandoned by the SBA in its answer to TDG’s apses®A.R. 379 n.2rejectedby the SBA

2TDG complains thathe December 14, 2012 memorandimthe recordhat setdorth
the hotline complaintseeA.R. 169, is not contemporaneous with the October complaint, and
that TDG has “never received any contemporandogsment regaling a ‘hotline complaint,™
Pl’sOpp’'n & Replyat 2 & n.2 ECF No. 262. The Court considsthis fact irrelevant. The
record makes plain that the SBA’s decision to terminate TDG from tho®%&¢&) program was
not made on the basis thie anonymous complaint, itseltfut was made on the basis of the
factual record developed subsequent to, and as a resulitaip thplaint



Office of Hearing Appeals (“OHA”) administrative law judge (“ALJ"Y, mot reachedby the
ALJ, the Court will detail only on those grounds that remain relevathiigaction®

Citing 31 C.F.R. 8 303j(3), the SCDO claimethat Ms. Fleshman did not manage TDG
full time and, thereforehat TDG hadfailed “to maintain ownership, fulime dayto-day
management, and control by disadvantaged individudds.at431. Among other factord)e
SCDOclaimed that TDG's invoices sh@dMs. Fleshman had be@aid “roughly $7,712 to
$10,000 per month frofESA],” which the SCDO posited made it “unfeasible for you to be
working full-time to cover TDG’s other contract performance obligationd.” The SCDO also
argued that many of TDG’s 2012 invoices “shiiMESA] as the subcontractor, an indication that
[DESA|] rather than TDG is managing the cauats” and that, prior to relocating, TDG was

“housed withifDESA]'s headquarters,” in a “private office not segregated from [DESA].”

3 For example, the SBA alleged that Ms. Fleshman knowingly subnfatisel
information in her application whenesffiailed to disclose a 1991 misdemeanor charge for
passing fraudulent check&eeA.R. 429, 388. The ALJ rejected this ground, however, and held
that the SBA had failed to consider whether Ms. Fleshmeshean honest and reasonable
mistake about the charge because she “disputes that she was ever arrestedand thatrshe
had no further interactions with the judicial system after payiagatount of the bounced
check.” Id. at380. Similarly, in September 2010, and around the time TDG submitted its
application, Ms. Fleshman had represented that TDG earned slegglthein 25% of its income
through its contracts with DESAd. at 195, 43631. Although that figure turned out to be
closer to 40% for the 2010 calendar year, the ALJ rejected the SBA’s detgamithat Ms.
Fleshman had misrepresented the figure. The ALJ pointed out teé@Bh asked for and
received a snapshot of [TDG’s] finances, so it had no reason to béleefigures represented a
final yearly tally,” and further found thélte SBA had supplied no evidence indicating that Ms.
Fleshman knew in September 2010 that the figure would be signifidaghlgr by year’s end.
Id. at 381. The ALJ also rejected the SBA’s fanciful suggestion that because DESARG
were “connected” on social media networks like Facebook and LinkedIn, the medicated
DESA controlled TDG or that Ms. Fleshman did not work-fule for TDG. As the ALJ
explained, [tjhe SBA points to nothing in either company’s LinkedIn or Facebooklgs that
indicates a power structure,” and that any “exercise of control could rurher ditection, or not
at all.” 1d. at 382. Finally, because it found one ground sufficient to uphold the SBA'’s
determinationid. at 384 the ALJ did not reach the numerous otgsunds that SBA had
alleged as good cause for TDG’s terminatmaeid. at 432-39.



Citing the same regulatiothe SCDO also claimed that “[s]everal facts indicate that Ms.
Sumpter has control oahk the power to control TDG’s business relationship such that [Ms.
Fleshman] cannot exercise independent business judgment wgtleai economic risk.’Id. at
432. TheSCDO again pointed to the fact that many of TDG'’s invoices show&RARiS the
subcontactor, and also noted that Mdeshman had listed MSumpter as a sutontractor on
TDG’s 2011 payroll listing.ld.; see also idat 287. Similarly, the SCDO alleged that TDG had
not fully disclosed the extent of Ms. Sumptgreaticipation with TDGcircumstances which the
agency claimed edtashed good cause under 13 C.F.R. § 124.303(a)(5) for fatlnrdisclose
to SBA the extent to which nedisadvantaged persons or firms participate in the management of
the Participant business concérmd. at433. TheSCDO stated that it had “met numerous times
with TDG, including the firm'’s initial 8(a) orientation on 16/20,” and “[i]n every instance
Diane Sumpter has been present and was very active in conversalrg 433-34.

On the basis of these and other grounds detailed in its @& CDO informed Ms.
Fleshman that it “intends to terminate The Desa Group, Inc., with gosd tram the 8(a)
Business Development Program,” and that Ms. Fleshman had “3@rdaythe dayof receipt of
th[e] Letter of Intent to Terminate to submit a written response. at 439.

On March 19, 2013, Ms. Fleshman respaawith a lengthy letter, refutinthe SCDO'’s
contentions. In particular, she claimed that the SCDO had mischaractaazethtionship
between TDG and DESA when the agency retirdhe invoices listing revensi&om DESA as
grounds to conclude that Ms. Fleshman was not dedicating héinfalemployment to TDG.

Id. at 105 She explained th®IESA “is one of TDG’s cliets,” and therefore, “[a]s head of
TDG, | am working on a fultime basis delivering services to all of my clients and fulfilling my

contractual obligations.’'ld. at 105-06 Moreover, sharguedthat far from listing “many”



invoices showing DESA as a suntractor, Ms. Fleshman asserted that there existed only a
“single project where [DESA] is a subcontractor @Q,” and for which DESA “only performs
about 16% of the work as a subcontractdd’at106, 108 With respect to the firm’s location,
Ms. Fleshman noted thatDG had relocated and had not been housed in the same location as
DESA “since before it was admitted to the 8(a) Program,” and that, evenituds located at
the same addresEDG'’s office was*segregated from [DESA] Id. at 106—07 Finally, Ms.
Fleshman maintained thigts. Sumpter was lisd not as an employee but as “a 1099
independent contractor for tkdelivery of marketing services.ld. at 108

Over a year lateron July 31, 2014-the SBA’s Office of Business Development
respomled toMs. Fleshman'setterand concludedthat, “[b]Jased on a thorough review of the
information submitted in response tetproposed termination action, the reasons cited for
termination have not been overcoiméd. at 387. The SBA responded to and rejected each of
TDG's contentions, and informed TDG thlae companyvould beterminated from the Section
8(a) program unless it filed an appeal within 45 days wittfs®&’s Office of Hearings and
Appeals (“OHA"). Id. at 388—4009.

TDG did file an appeal, and th&LJ issuedhis decision on February 5, 281 As
pertinent to this actiorithe ALJrejected SBA'’s claim that Ms. Sumpter controls, or has the
ability to control, TDG. Sedd. at 381-83. As theALJ explained, “[ijn may instances, the
Termination Letter identified a real or perceived business connectioede{WDG] and DESA,
[and] then made a conclusory statement that the connection was indi¢atnesex
management, improper reliance, or lack of-fitie dedicatio to [TDG],” but had “rarely
attempted to explain how the evidence supported the concludibrat 382. Specific to the

SBA'’s contentiongegarding TDG's earnirgfrom DESA,the ALJfound thatthe SBA’s



conclusiorthat “Ms. Fleshman is an employee dE®A” was “contrary to the evidence”
because “Ms. Fleshman is not employed directly by DESA,” and tlces/ merely show
payments made to TDG “pursuant to its subcontract with DESAwilere not “Ms.
Fleshman’s personal incomeld. at 383.

At the same time, however, in the findhreeparagraphs dfis opinion,the ALJnoted
that control by a nodisadvantaged individual may be found where “business relatjpnshist
.. . which cause such dependence that the applicant or participaot eaarcis independent
business judgment without great economic riskd” at 383(quoting 13 C.F.R8
124.106(g)(4)).The ALJconcluded thatwhile the “examples cited in [SBA’S] Termination
Letter may not be persuasive evidence of actual control bysiapter, . . . they are evidence of
significant interconnectedness between the two companiés.The ALJthen cited several
factorswhich he found demonstratedch interconnectedness, including: (1) that “[b]oth
companies act or have acted as subcontractors for the other compathéf TG “maintains
an office in DESA Inc.’s headquarters in order to more effectivelyageiits contractual
obligations to the elder company”; (3) that TDG’s “own headquaidansa building owned by
Ms. Sumpter”; (4xhat TDG “holds meetings in DESA’s building, and Ms. Sumpter iscalvo
participant in those meetings”; (5) that, regardless of whetheENspter was acting as TDG’s
“marketing contractor or as its manager,” it was “clear that Ms. Sumptgs alcritial role in
[TDG’s] success”; (6) that “DESA was responsible for almost 40f60G’s] revenues in
2010"; and(7) that DESA was paying TDG “between $7,000 and $10,000 per month from 2010
to 2012.” Id. at 383—-84. Overall,the ALJconcludedhat “SBA ha piovided evidence that

rationally supports its ultimate conclusion” that TDG “could mnsk its relationship with DESA



without substantial harm to its own healtid. at384. Thereforethe ALJfound that the SBA
had “articulated a reasonable basis” for terminating TDG from the Ségaypmprogram.id.
TDG subsequently filed this actieimder the APAchallenging theSBA’s decision to
terminate it from the progranSeeCompl. {1 25-30. Count | alleges that the SBA’s decision
wasarbitrary, capriciousand contrary to lawld. 127. Count Il alleges that the SBA’s
determination violated the Small Business Act and its implemgngéigulations because the
SBA terminated TDG without the necessary good cause and beca&iAvolated its own
regulatiors when it failed to resporfdr over a yeato TDG’s responséo the agency’$etter of
intent to terminate See idY129-30. The SBA'’s regulations provide that: the “SBA will act in a
timely manner in processing early graduation and termination actia8sC.F.R. § 124.3(4).
TDG hasnow moved for summary judgme(ECF No. 14), and the SBA has cross

moved for summary judgment (ECF No. 20).

[ll. LEGAL STANDARD

A court may grant summary judgment when “the movant shows thatisheavegenuine
dispute as tany material fact and the movant is entitled to judgment as a mataey.dfFed.
R. Civ. P. 56(a). When assessing a motion for summary judgmantAPA case, however,
“the district judge sits as an appellate tribunash. Bioscience, Inc. v. Thongos 269 F.3d
1077, 1083 (D.C. Cir. 2001). In such cases the complaint “actually presefarsunl
allegations, but rather only arguments about the legal coonltsibe drawn about the agency
action.” Marshall Cnty. Health Care Auth. v. Shala288 F.2d 1221, 1226 (D.C. Cir. 1993).
Therefore, “[t]he entire case on review is a question of law, and only aauestaw.” 1d. The

Court’s review “is based on the agency record and limited to detegwriiather the agency

10



acted arbitrarily or capricigssly,” Rempfer v. Sharfsteis83 F.3d 860, 865 (D.C. Cir. 2009), or
in violation of another standard set out in section 10(e) of the A&8&% U.S.C. § 706.

The scope of a court’s “arbitrary and capricious” review “is narrow” ancbtrt is not to
subsitute its judgment for that of the agencyotor Vehicle Mfrs. Ass’n v. State Farm Mut.
Ins. Co, 463 U.S. 29, 43 (1983). To satisfy the stangandagency “must examine the relevant
data and articulate a satisfactory explanation for its action includimagi@nal connection
between the facts found and the choice madel."(quotingBurlington Truck Lines v. United
States 371 U.S. 156, 168 (1962)An agency’s action is arbitrary and capricious if it “has relied
on factors which Congress has nutended it to consider, entirely failed to consider an important
aspect of the problem, offered an explanation for its decisiomuhstcounter to the evidence
before the agency, or is so implausible that it could not be ascribed terari in viewor the
product of agency expertiseld.

Agency fact finding, evem an informal adjudicatiorfmust be supported by substantial
evidence—etherwise it would be arbitrary and capriciou§afe Extensions, Inc. v. BA509
F.3d 593, 604 (D.C. Cir. 2007gccord Ardmore Consulting Grp., Inc. v. Contre&seet 118
F. Supp. 3d 388, 394 (D.D.C. 2015) (applying the substantial evideanogardn a case
reviewing a Small Business Association decision where the l&dseeks to overturn several of
the SBA's factual findings”).“Whenthe arbitrary or capricious standard is performing that
function of assuring factual support, there is no substantifereliice between what it requires
and what would be required by the substantial evidence test, sisgapiossible to conceive of
a‘nonarbitrary factual judgment supported only by evidence that is not substamtied APA
sens€ Ass'n of Data Processing Serv. @Grgnc. v. Bd. of Governors of Fed. Reserve, Syb

F.2d 677, 68-&4 (D.C. Cir. 1984)emphasis omitted)Substantial evidence is “such relevant

11



evidence as a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support soohdRishardson v.
Perales 402 U.S. 389, 401 (19719yotingConsolidated Edison Co. v. NLRB05 U.S. 197,
229 (1938). An agency decision “maye supported by substantial evidence even though a
plausible alternative interpretation of the evidence would suppomtsacy view.” Morall v.
Drug Enft Admin, 412 F.3d 165, 176 (D.C. Cir. 2005) (quotRgbinson v. Nat'Transp.
Safety Bd.28 F.3d 210, 215 (D.C. Cir. 1994 At the same timdjowever,substantial evidence
requires “more than a scintilla,” and an agency “must do more than creafgciosusf the
existence of the fact to be establishewl$atisfy the ndard. ld. (QquotingNLRB v. Columbian
Enameling & Stamping C0306 U.S. 292, 29800 (1939)).And “[a]s the Supreme Court has
explained,” the “substantiality of evidence must take into accouatewér in the record fairly
detracts from [the evidence’s] weight,” and a coaray not find substantial evidentaerely
on the basis of evidence which in and of itself justified fihency’sdecision], without taking
into account contradictory evidence or evidence from which confliatiegences could be
drawn’ Lakeland Bus Lines, Inc. v. NLRB47 F.3d 955, 9663 (D.C. Cir. 2003)quoting

Universal Camera Corp. v. NLRB40 U.S. 474, 487, 488951)).

IV. ANALYSIS
The SBA's letter of intent to terminate TDG from the Section 8(a) progrised
approximately a dozen grounds for terminating the.fiMet, by virtue ofthe ALJ’s rejection of
severalgrounds on appeand the fact that the ALJ onlppheld the decisioan one groundhe
issue nowbefore ths Court is exceedingly narrowvhether tle SBA actedrbitrarily and
capriciously in concluding that “[bJusiness relationships exist” betwI' DG and “non
disadvantaged individuals or entities which cause such dependericEQiGatcannot exercise

independent business judgment without great economic risk.” 13 C.F.R.198@3(4).
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The ALJ listed various circumstances that, in his view, establigigdificant
interconnectedness” between TDG and DES&eA.R. 383-84. TheSBA relies on these
circumstances, but alsavokes several additionabnnectionghat the ALJ did not rely upon
but thatthe agencyad raised ints termination letters SeeDef.’s Mem. Supp. Crosiilot.
Summ. J. & Opp’n Pl.’s Mot. at 1@Def.’s Mem. Supp.”), ECF No. 2&ee alsA.R. 51,402—-
03, 434 After a thorougheview of the administrative record, however, the Court concludes that
both the ALJ and the SBRavefailed to articulate or explain how those connectieasen if
significant or substantiakdemonstratsuch a high level of dependence that T@@nnot
exercse independent business judgment without great economitc Li8KC.F.R. §
124.106(g)(4).Therefore, theCourt finds that thagency has failed to articulate‘rational
connection between the facts found and the choice Mashel has also “failed toomsider an
important aspect of the problemState Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Gal63 U.S. atd3 (quoting
Burlington Truck Lines371 U.S. at 168)The Court will discuss eagiutative connectiom
turn.

First,the ALJ asserted that TDG “maintains an office in DESA Inc.’s headzrgart
order to more effectively manage its contractual obligationse@lder company.” A.R. 383.
This assertions problematic in two ways. As the Court will explaimette is considerable
dispute in the record concerning viher TDGcontinues to havan office at DESA’s
headquarters at alEven if TDG does continue to maintain an office there, however, the SB
has failed to explain why that connection indicates that TDG islena exercise independent
business judgment thiout great economic risk.

In its initial letter of intent to terminateéhe SBA had claimed that before the firm

relocated to its current locatierl515 Richland StreetTDG “was housed withifDESA]'s

13



headquarters at 400 Percival Street,” in a private office “not segregated fEe&R &hd where
the firms appeared to share a receptiorigtat 431. Ms. Fleshman responded by asserthmaj
TDG has not had its corporate office located at 400 Percival Stregihce before it was
admitted to the 8(a) pgram” and that the company never had a receptiohistat 106—07
Ms. Fleshman did note th@iDG’s own headquarters at 1515 Richland Strethousedn a
building owned by Ms. Sumpter or DESA, but claimed thatarrangementas intended to
facilitateTDG’s performance of human resource management services for DE$@ anotect
“the very sensitive nature of the persommelords involved. Id. at 111. In its subsequent
response, the SBA amended its allegation to assert that, althougtdda@aintainits own
headquarters at 1515 Richland Stréeéappears that TDG has an office at 400 Percival Street.”
A.R. 395. In doing so, he agency seents haveerroneously read Ms. Fleshman’s respase
admittingthat TDG continued to maintain an io# at DESA’s headquarterSee id* And the
SBA also claimedhat a Business Opportunity Specialist thie SCDO had visited DESA’s
headquarters on two occasions unrelated to TDG businessporan unspecified date and
another on February 1, 2011,t&af TDG'’s certificatior?, and allegedly “observed [TDG’s]

office within the [DESA] headquarters buildifigld. On these basethe SBA concluded that

4 The SBA quoted only the following statement from Ms. Fleshmanforeg as support
for its contention that TDG “has an office” in DESA’s headquarters: “Howdlierewas no
separate entrance.” A.R. 395. Butenread inits full context, it is apparent that Ms. Fleshman
made no such admission. Ms. Fleshman wrote that: “TDG has ndslwaaporate office
located at 400 Percival Street, Columbia, SC since befaasiadmitted to the 8(a) Program.
However, there was ‘no separate entrance’ at 400 Percival Street from itle batause the
building was constructed that wayld. at 106-07. Ms. Fleshman further stated that “TDG’s
private office was indeed segregated from [DE®Ajle TDG was located at that addré'sdd.
at 107(emphasis added). Read in context, the letter indicates that Ms. Fleshman was
explaining—in the pastense—the location of its office when it had previously been located in
the same building as DESA’s headquarte&sed. at 106—07 The Court perceives no basis for
the SBA’s conclusion that Ms. Fleshman had admitted TDG continued to havéice at
DESA'’s headquarters.

14



“having [TDG's] office in [DESA’s] headquarteand sharing the receptionist represents
additional evidace of affiliation, management and control’ between TDG and DHBA.

Thus, it appears that the ALJ may have misread the record when hadeahttiat TDG
keptan officeat DESA’s headquarter$n order to more effectively manage its contractual
obligations” to DESA. Id. at 383. Neither party made that exact claim. The SBA made no
allegation beyond the existence of the office, and TDG claimed tlmtnitteadquartersr a
DESA-owned building was intended to facilitate its human resource rebgiies for DESA.
Oddly, howeverin its briefing before this CouDG now appears to acceptor at least does
not definitively dispute-that TDG “maintains an office in DESA Incleadquarters even
though TDGcites to its response to the SBA’s letter in which Ms. Fleshman wadycl
referencing TDG’s habitation of the separate DEgwnedbuilding at 1515 Richland Road
Pl’s Mem. Supp. at 1@mphasis added). Like the ALJ, TDBw seems taonflateits
respnse to the SBA’s claim that its offices are located &S A-ownedbuilding with the
SBA's distinct allegation that TD@aintainsan office at DESA’s headquarter§his

discrepancy is puzzling.

5 In some ways, the SBA also compounds this discrepancy by noghigdcepting and
relying onMs. Fleshman'’s claim that TDG’s headquarisrsot located in the same building as
DESA'’s headquarters. The SBA now claims tietauséthe administrative record indicates
that DESA’s headquarters are located at a different location,” the firm’s “eapdanthat it is
located in a DESA satellite office to facilitate an HR function . . . rais®® questions than
answers.” Def.’s Mem.$p. at 16.The agency notes th&DG is under contract to provide
human resources services for a number of clientghbtithe firmdoesnot claim that ikeeps
offices at any oits otherclients’ locations.ld. Theagency'schange in emphasggaces TDG in
somewhat of a cateP2: under the ALJ’s and SBA'’s original viewaving an office at DESA’s
headquarters indicated dependeut the SBA now claims that the fact that TDG doets
have an office there undermines TDG'’s explanafwrany conneabn between the two
locations In any event, anfibr the reasons stated belathe discrepancies in the record do not
change the Court’s conclusion that the agency has failed to articolatidaé location of TDG’s
headquarterer satelliteoffice suggestshat TDG is unable to exercise independent business
judgment without great economic risk.
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Regardless of whether TDG in fact maintains an office at DESA’s haeegs,
however,TDG contends that the SBA and ALJ failed to explain why having aceafiiDESA’s
headquarters caused “such dependence on TDG that it cannot exercisededepesiness
judgment without great economic risk.” Pl’s Mem. Supp. at 12 (quoting ALRCS
124.106(g)(4)).The SBA does little to answer this contentidndeed, he agency simply
contends that TDG's office locations “were not considered in isald@iut were among several
other factors that establish an unusual closeness between theserpanies.” Defs Mem.
Supp. at 16.But, in doing so, the agency wholly fails to explain how any closeness
demonstrated by TDG’s location indicates that TDG is unableeixise independent business
judgment without risk tat$ success.

The ALJ also relied on the fact that TDG’s own headquarters were loc&teduiiding
owned by Ms. Sumpter.” A.R. 383. In a footnote of TDG’s memorandwsupport of its
motion for summary judgment,DG argueghat “OHA overlooked the fa¢hat TDG has a
commercial lease for its space and is paying a enagte,” and claimghat “OHA gave no
reason why this fact would make TDG dependent on DESA.” Pl.’s Mapp.&t 1&.4.
Beyondagain referring to this fact as simgype, among severahat he ALJ relied uporfand
without explaining how the fact rationally supports its ultieneonclusion)seeDef.’s Mem.
Supp. at 13, 1516, the SBA does not respond to this argument, contest TDG’s ttlatnt pays
a market rate for rent, or furthexplain why the location of TDG’s headquarters in a DESA
ownedbuilding indicates that TDG is unable to exercise independemtdsssjudgment.
Indeed, the agency seemsitmw urgethat any economic benefit TDG receives from the location
is irrelevant. SeeDef.’s Reply Supp. Crosslot. Summ. Jat 9(“Def.’s Reply”), ECF No. 28

(“The issue raised, however, is not the amount being paid bubtbeation itself that indicated
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that TDG could not risk its relationship with DESA. The locad TDG was presented as one

of several examples to show the unusual interconnectedness obthadwesses and the
opportunity for the assertion of control anfluence by Ms. Sumpter ovéer daughter’'s
business.”).But if TDG is paying a market rate, and therefore appears no better off than the firm
would beif it were to rent any other commercial space in Columbia, the Court agitbeERG

that it is difficult to see how this facationally supportghe agency’s conclusion that these
sufficient interconnectedness such that TDG cannot exercise mpeusiness judgment

without great economic riskAt the very least, the SBA has failed to explain why the mere
presence of TDG ia building owred by DESA supports its conclusion.

Secondthe ALJ concluded that TDG “holds meetings in DESA'’s buildergd Ms.
Sumpter is a vocal participant in these meetings,” noting that thegpatabate whether Ms.
Sumpter’s presence in these niegs is & [TDG]'s marketing contractor or as its manager.”
A.R. 383. These findings invoke the SBABntentions that members from tABCO “met
numerous times with TDG, including the firm’s initial 8(a) otaion on 10/26/10” and that “in
every insance Diane Sumpter has been present and was very active in conversationd, atc.”
433-34. The SBA also claimed that a field visit was conducted on October 25, 2Qivb by
members of the SBA’s Business Opportunity Specialists, during whichShspter guided and

was veryinvolved in the discussions.ld. at434. TDG admits that the SBA has had three

® Yet another discrepancy appears to have been caused by the ALJ’s lack afrprecis
Although the ALJ referred to meetings held “in DESA’s building,R. 383,asTDG points out
all of the alleged meetings, to the extent there are records of them,elest MDG's
headquarters, Pl.’s Opp’n & Reply at 18/hile DESA owns that building, it is not DESA’s
headquarters, and the ALJ does not indicate whéthedistnction mattered to his analysis (or
which hereferred to).Perhapsn light of this reality, the SBA abandons its reliance on the
location altogetherSeeDef.’s Reply at 10 (“[TDG’s] argument misses the point. Whatastm
significant is not the location of the meetings but Sumpter’s dented conduct during those
meetings.”).
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meetings with TDG, and that Ms. Sumpter was present at each one, buttcitithere was
nothing problematic about Ms. Sumpter’s attendandeat 110-11 The SBA responded that
each meeting “Ms. Sumpter was not only present but apparently ge¢hand that “[o]n all
three occasions Ms. Sumpter was directing the conversations and quedtoat399.

When pressed during the appeal to the OHA, the SBA was only able to pthdhece
records of such meetinggwo field visit reports and anmail from a DESA employee
requesting a meeting between TDG, DESA, and the SBA to discuss a@@ssiventure
between the firms.Seed. at 341, 34862. AlthoughSBA claims it “satisfactorily addressed
these concerns prior to OHA'’s decision,” Def.’s Mem. Supp. at 1ddbemend the SBA
provideddo little to corrobora the SBA'’s putative evidence.

For one thingthe first field visit report lists the “datof visit” as December 8, 2011, not
the October 25 date the SBA allegeskeeA.R. 348. And ifone were to think this might be a
typographical error, the signatures at the end of the repondate from Decenber 2011, as
well. Seed. at353. In addition, the report states that it was the “[f]irst offsite visit” to
TDG, id. at 352, which either casts doubt on the SBA’s contention that a prior @&@0b# site
visit took place, or at least leaves the record withouffiestyhandevidence of such a meeting.
Finally, the report itself makes no mention of Ms. Sumpter datimg the conversation or
appearing to direct the firm. Quite to the contrary: the report indithéedhe firm “was found
to be n good stead,” listed Ms. Fleshman’s educati@nedentialsand stated that the “principal
and paritime assistant appears [sic] to be well qualified and ready to go to"widtkat 352.

In fact, nowhere in the recorebeyond the termination letter aitsl response-are the
details concerning Ms. Sumpter’s “take charge’ actions,” “autharity influence in the

meetings,”or heavy “involve[ment] in discussions” documentdd. at 399, 43. And the
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termination letter and the SBA’s subsequent respmisigng those characterizations of Ms.
Sumpter’s actions wett@oth signed by officials whbadnot attenatd these two field visits, so
far as the record indicatésThus, the record is devoid of any evidence setting faetBonal
knowledge of thevisits. Cf. LaBotz v. Fed. Election Comm®89 F. Supp. 2d 51, 63 (D.D.C.
2012) (concluding that because an affidavit “is not clearly supported yna¢ksiowledge and
is, in fact, contradicted by contemporaneous written evidence,” theyagiéoonclusion is not
supported by ‘substantial eviderige

In addition, the email the SBA added tthe recordshowsthat the message wasnply a
precursor to the second meeting, held on February 4, 2013, whichquastegjointly by TDG
and DESA to discuss agsible joint venture between the two firneeA.R. 362 (January 31,
2013 email requesting meeting “to discuss Joint Venture Agreementifths]fwish to submit
to the SBA for consideratidiy id. at 355, 359September 4, 2013 field repabting tha the
SBA was “requested to visit to discuss a possible Joint Venture Agredoetween the two
firms”). Thus, this anail and field visit reportogetheronly establiska single, seconcheeting
at which Ms. Sumpter was present, not adalitional meeting Moreover,becausehe meeting
was called to discuss a jowmenture between DESA and TDG, it is unsurprising ket
Sumpter, as the owner of DESA, was an active member meb&ing—and the agency fails to

explain why it concluded otherwise.

" At one point, when discussing the October 25, 2011 field visit, the SD®@ce of
intent to terminate states that Ms. Sumpter’s actions during thatngnésdi “Mr. Bryant andhis
writer to perceive Ms. Sumpter was the strongest or at least the primary mark@eco
A.R. 434 (emphasis added). But a mere paragraph pg\tice letter stated that the field
business was conducted by Floyd Bryant and Mike O’N&ie id.By contrast, the letter is
signed by Elliott O. Cooper, the SCDO direct&ee idat 440. There is no indication Mr.
Cooper, the letter witer, attewled the field visit.
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While the ALJ did not rely on it, the SBA also references its own disousdiMs.
Sumpter’s marketing activities, on behalf of TDG, as an indicabiahNls. Sumpter exercised
influence over the firmSeeDef.’'s Mem. Supp. at 14ee alsA.R. 434 Specificaly, the SBA
contended that Ms. Sumpter has “contacted the SCDO about marketinguopjgsiton
numerous occasions, that she indicated at one point that she woelddré&lashington, D.C. to
market TDG to agencieandthat she was “very active in marketing and arranging for a contract
with the South Carolina National Guanghich TDG was eventally awarded.ld. at434. TDG
contestedome of this evidence, but alsotedthat “Ms. Sumpter has a contract to provide
marketing services for TDGwhich thecompanycontendedxplains some of the marketing
activities® Id. at 111. The SBA responded, in a conclusory fashion, that “[t]he ‘consultant
contract’ appears to provide cover for Ms. Sumpter’s involverhang that the agency did not
believe the comgnies’ “real working relationship and intentions in having Msnfter contact
SDCO . .. were properly disclosedd. at 400.

The SBA alsonotes thatt cautioned Ms. Sumpter on at least one occasion that her
actions on behalf of TDG were creating an appearance that she owned the colichpat34.
That instance arose whemMarketing Specialist for th®linority Business Development Agency
("MBDA") Business Center sent aimail to an employee of Fort Jackson military base
thanking the employee fotdking your time to speak recently with Ms. Diane Sumpter
regarding The DESA Group’s (TDG) ground maintenance serviddsdt 319. At least at the

time, DESA in fact operattthe MBDA Business Center in Columbidouth Carolina Seed. at

8 Even he SBA’s own December 2011 field report indicates that the agencipateit
some form of marketing assistance from DESA. After indicating “Yesthether the firm is
“adequately served by trained sales representativesfiettieeport states thahe firm’'s
“informal Mento—DESA, Inc. is able to provide any assistance.” A.R. 349.
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320 (signatte block stating “operated by DESA, Inc?)Ms. Fleshmamespondedo the SBA’s
allegation byacknowledging the SBA’s cautiohut explainingjn part, thatMBDA Business
Center‘markets for ALL of its clients.”ld. at112. The SBA rejected this portioof the
explanation stating that “[tjhere was no reference to representing MB&Ts, only TDG,” and
concluding that, because the subject line stated “From Diane Sumpter: BAe@Bup
(TDG),” the message “clearly puts Ms. Sumpter acting as an ofiCiEDG.” 1d. at403. Yet,
the email itself was signed by an employee of, and includes the signaticieds| theMBDA
Business CenterSee d. at 320. At the very least, the SBA’s response failed to grapple with that
alternative explanation yismissing it out of hand, despite the clear reference to the MBDA
the email.

Given thenumerousapparent discrepancies in the record and the vague, conclusory
nature of much othe evidence the SBA has offerdigde Court has serious doubts ttias
factual record suffices to provide the substantial evidence necessayport the SBA’s
conclusion thaMs. Sumpter played an outsized role in TDG’s marketing activitteeAT&T
Wireless Servs., Inc. v. FC€70 F.3d 959, 968 (D.C. Cir. 200t onclusory explanations for
matters involving a central factual dispute where there is consideraddses in conflict do not
suffice to meet the deferential standards of our revjewek alsd_akeland Bus Lines347 F.3d
at 962 (explaining that substantéadidence reviewnust“take into account whatever in the
record fairly detracts from [the evidence’s] weight,” and that a conmty“not find substantial
evidence merely on the basis of evidence which in and of itself justifieddgency’sdecision],

without taking into account contradictory evidence or evidence frhizhveonflicting

® Ms. Fleshman’s response in some instances refers to the “MiBuisiiess Enterprise
Center” or “MBEC.” SeeA.R. 107. The Court understands these terms to reference the MBDA
Business @nter
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inferences could be drawWrfquoting Universal Camera Corp. v. NLRB40 U.S. 474, 48
(1951))).

In any eventeven accepting that Ms. Sumpter attend@i{>'s meetings witlthe SBA,
was active irthoseconversatiog and performed marketing services for TB@&hether as a
contractor or, in some cases, in her capacity through the MBIDA SBA has failed to connect
those facts to its conclusion that Ms. Fleshman was unable wsexgdependent business
judgment over TDG without “great economic risk3 C.F.R. § 124.106(g)(4Perhapshe
firm’s ability to market itself is sufficiently critical to itsusvival thatthe SBA believes Ms.
Sumpter’s rolenhibits Ms. Fleshman’s ability to run the comparfythat is the agency’s
position,however, the agency has not explained why the connections it htiBadesupport
that conclusion.There aresome indications in the February 2013 field report uadsction
entitled “marketing” that the SBA had concerns that the firm was beangated in a way that
led it to probably be “viewed as part of DESA rather thidre‘Desa Grouf. A.R. 356-57.
Yet, in thatverysame document tHeBA also indicatedh the same sententkat thefirm “has a
good marketing pla” Id. at 356. In sum,neither the termination letters nor the agency’s
response to Ms. Fleshman'’s letter contesting the agency’s ass&adionect the firm’s
marketing capacitiesr Ms. Fleshman’attendance in meetingkrectly toTDG’s perceived
inability to exercise its own independdnisiness judgment.

Third, the ALJ notedhat“DESA was responsible for almost 40% of [TDG’s] revenues
in 2010.” 1d. at384. As already explained, TDG providesran resource consulting services
for DESA, and therefore brings in revenue from DE&#suant to that contractual arrangement

TDG contends that this figure has fallen to 16% in 2012 thedefore thatthe 2010 figure is
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“entirely of no relevance® Pl.’s Mem. Supp. at 16. The Court disagre&s.the extent the
revenues received from an associated company during the year teatémad the Section 8(a)
program were higher than anticipated, that informationld berelevant to determining whether
the organization was properly admitted into the program in thepfase.

Yet, while the Court agrees with the SBA that the level of revenue TDG recewesf
company controllethy Ms. Sumptemightsupport a finding of dependence that prohibited TDG
from exercising its own independent business judgment withoat gcenomic risk, the agency
has again failed to explain hawosefacts supportts conclusion. For one thing, the mere fact
that DESA pgs for TDG's services does not necessarily indicate that it is abledd asntrol
overhowTDG runs its business or thesinesgudgments TDGr Ms. Fleshmamakein doing
so. The regulatiorthe SBA has invokedtself, does not state thall &usiness relationsps”
are indicative of control. Instead, it states that control by adsadvantaged individual will be

found where there exidfb]usiness relationships . which cause such dependence that the

10'while both parties acceftis figure in their briefing and do nqtiestion its accuracy
or relevance, TDG appears to be mixing apples and oranges by relyingXg¥tHgure,
(although the record is, yet again, not entirely clairvoyant). T@B&es this figure from the
fact that DESA performed only 16% of the wamk2012as asubcontractoon a contract TDG
was awardedSeeA.R. 147, 108.Butthe 40% of revenues cqarison point from 201that
TDG references wasasedonwork TDG had performed as a human resoucoesultantor
DESA,who isone of TDG’s clients Id. at 103, 105, 195.That type of direct revenue seems
different in kindto thework DESA performedor TDG as a subcontractor. Moreovée record
containsinvoices from 2011 and 2012 indicating tA&@G continues to perform this human
resources consulting work and that DESA continues to pey floughly $10,000 per month
throughout 2011 and 201ZeeA.R. 23444, 268-74. This implieghat any subcontract work
was not TDG’s sole source of revenue from DES8hough the percentage of revesue
presumably would havstill decreased in light of TDG’s increased revering)11 and 2012.
SeeA.R. 115(reproducing annual revenuedndeed, elsewhere in its opening brief, TDG does
seem to claim that this continued flow of payments “would be tess10% of TDG’s revenues
in 2012,” which indicates that itmainsa separate source of revenue. Pl.’s MenppSat 16.
Regardlessand these discrepancies aside, the Court ultimately concludes thBAH@as not
rationally explained whyanyrevenues from DESA limited TDG’s ability to exercise its own
independent business judgment.
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applicant or Participant cannot exercisddpendent business judgment without great economic
risk.” 13 C.F.R. 8 124.10@3)(4) Yet, theimplicit, unexplained assumptidhatanycontractual
relationship inevitably indicates that DESA or Ms. Sumpter’s cbotrer TDGappears to be all
the ageng relied upon. The SBA claims that the 40% figure provided the agency with “
rational basis to determine that DESA was and remains a signifaatntocitor toward TDG’s
revenues and, when coupled with the other factors identified by $BATDG is undly
dependent on DESA.” Def.’s Mem. Supp. at 20.

In addition, although the ALJ relied upon the fact thiajoth companies act or have
acted as subcontractors for the other company,” A.R. 383, the SBAtasponded in its
briefing here to TDG's clairthat there is nothing irdnently problematic with TDGontracting
with DESA seePl.’'s Opp’n & Reply at 231.7, ECF No. 262 (noting the SBA’s failure to
contest this point)! But if there is no inherent impropriety in TDG’s hiring DESAazas
subcontractorpr DESA hiring TDG to provide human resource servite it is difficult to

understand, without some explanation, why the revenues TDG rédeweany such

1 The agency’s assertiodsaring the administrative proceedingjsilarly showthatthe
SBA simplystated itconclusion (again, without explanation) that the existeneecohtract
indicated that Ms. Sumpter drove TDG’s busineSse, e.g.A.R. 400 (“SBA disputes the fact
that here is nothing improper in TDG having a ‘consultant’ contract with§B]. The
‘consultant contract’ appears to provide cover for Ms. Sumptertdvement.”). It does not
appear, so far as the Court can tell, that the SBA has ever claimedrtracing with a non
disadvantaged entity, alone, violated any regulation or requirerhtdr 8ection 8(a) program.
At one poin the agency did claim that “[DESAYas operating as a subcontractor, which
represents an affiliation that would require approvabBy.” 1d. at 397;see alsad. at 394
(“[DESA]'s subcontracting for TDG represents a substantidiatibn concern and reliance by
TDG on [DESA].”). But that conclusion contained no citation togulaion requiring such
approval, and was included ansection of the SBA’s responsencerning the requirement that a
firm obtain written approval from SBA for changes in ownershipinass structure,
management, or controll his suggestthat the “approval’ the SBA was concerned ahoas
the approval ba managementhange it believdtwas suggested by the subcontract,thet
approval of the subcontracting arrangement, itself.
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arrangemergtindicate that the firm is unable to exercise independent bugutggset without
great economic risk. For the same reasons, the SBA has not providedal catimection
between the ALJ’s fourthomtention—that DESA was payingDG “between $7,000 and
$10,000 per month from 2010 to 2012,” A.R. 384nd the SBA’s conclusion that TDG is
unduly dependent on DESA.

Moreover, TDG expresslyrepresented at the time it applied for the Section 8(a) program
that revenues from DESA during the 2010 calendar yeathusdiar amounted tcslightly less
than 25% ofthe] company’s revenues.” A.R. 195. Despite @dission TDG was admitted
to the program.Seead. at 140. The SBA has failed to indicatehy the 15% uptick changes its
analysisof whetherTDG is alde to exercise independent business judgment. And the agency’s
claim now that “[e]ven based on the 2012 figures, DESA remainsdicamt client, accounting
for sixteen percent of revenues,” Def.’s Mem. Supp. at Zigriscularlyunpersuasive in lightfo
the SBA'’s original approval of DESA’s application on the assumphierfitmwas receiving an
even highepercentage of iteevenueg25%)from DESA.

Finally, the ALJconcluded that, although TDG and the SBA debated whether Ms.

Sumpter was acting as a marketing contractor for TDG or one ofiitsgees, regardless of the

12The Court disagrees, howeveith TDG's argumenthat the ALJ’s invocation of this
fact flies in the face of iteejectiona page earlieof the SBA’s claim that these payments
constituted earnings DESA paid to Ms. Fleshm&gaePl.’'s Mem. Supp. at }418. The ALJdid
conclude thathe SBA’s contention wa%ased on inaccate or unsupported assumptions”
becausé¢he funds wee payments made to TDG pursuant to its contract with DESA, and that
they “are not Ms. Fleshman’s personal incoma.R. 383. Accordingly, the ALJ found that
“the time spent executing the DESA contriadime spent on [TDG]’s affairs and must be
countedwhen determining whether Ms. Fleshman devotes full time to [TD@E].{emphasis in
original). But when he invoked those payments a page later, the ALJ reliedromntlae
different way: to show “evidence of significant interconnectednetsgden the te companies.”
Id. at 383-84. The Court does not find it inherently inconsistent to rely osetpayments to
show some degree of connection between the two firms, notwithstahdird J's conclusion
that they did not demonstrate Ms. Fleshman’s diregti@yment by DESA.
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answer “it is clear that Ms. Sumpter plays a critical role in [TDG]'€sss.” A.R. 38334.
TDG claims that this rationale is conclusory, and runs countéetevidence in the record
reiterating many of its responses to the other factors cited als®e®l.’'s Mem. Supp. at 15.6.
The SBA does not rely on this factor as a staleshe argument, but simptfaims that it “is
supported by all of the factors identified in the Termination Lettércéed in the OHA
decision.” Def.’s Mem. Supp. at 18.herefore, this factor simply collapses back into the
parties’ other arguments recited above

As the ALJ stated when rejecting the SBA'’s conclusionMetFleshman failed to
maintainfull-time dayto-day control of TDG: “[ijn many instances, the Termination Letter
identified a real or perceived business connection between [TDG] and, Dt made a
conclusory statement that the connection was indicative ofcshreeagement, improper
reliance, or lack of fultime dedication to [TDG]. It rarely attempted to explain how the
evidence supported the conclusion.” A.R. 382. Inthe Court’s vievgBAeand ALJ’s
determination that the connection between TDG and DESAndasative of suchdependence
that TDG was unable to exercise independent business judgmenttwitbaueconomic risk
suffers from the very same infirmityThe agency has identified several contacts or connections
between TDG and DESA. But under the regulation the S&Aimvokedhere mere contacts or
business relationshigdone are iaufficient to show control; the agency must establish that those
relationships “cause such dependértbat TDG “cannot exercise independent business
judgment without great economic riskl3 C.F.R. § 124.106(g)(4). The SBA has done no more
than conclusorilystatethat the contacts here equate to the level of dependence necessary to show
that Ms. Sumpter or DESA controls TD@ herefore, the Court finds the SBA’s determination

arbitraryand capricious because the agency has not articufatedtional connection between
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the facts found and the choice madand has “failed to consider an important aspect of the
problem.” State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Gal63 U.S. at 43 (quotinBurlington Truck Lines371

U.S. at 168)°

In its memorandum, TDG requests that the Court “order the SBA to inatedgaccept
TDG back into the 8(a) Program” and add additional time to compensdte fome, if any, it
wasprecluded from the progranseePl.’s Mem. Supp. at 19. Yadf,“the record before the
agency does not support the agency action, if the agency has noepeohsilli relevant factors,
or if the reviewing court simply cannot evaluate the challenged agenow actithe basis of the
recad before it, the proper course, except in rare circumstances, is to remthedagency for
additional investigation or explanatidnFla. Power & Light Co. v. Lorion470 U.S. 729, 744
(1985);see also Amerijet Int’l, Inc. v. Pistglé53 F.3d 1343, 1353 (D.C. Cir. 2014) (noting that
remand is the “usual remedy”T he Court sees no reason to depart from that typical remedy in
this case. Given the numerous connections between TDG and DESA, anditigecootplaint

that the SBA received, the agency Inadson to be suspicious that TDG was dependent on

13 Because the Court grants summary judgment to TDG on alternative gydtumeed
not determine whether the SBA failed to “act in a timely manner in ppmgesarly graduation
and termination actions,” 13 C.F.R. § 124.@0Awhen the gency tookover a year to respond to
Ms. Fleshman’s rebuttal of the notice of intent to terminate. Thet@otes, however, that
TDG providesno citation to case law or analogous regulations in arguing thaintleipériod
flouts the regulation. dF does TDG provide any authority indicating whether the language is
mandatory or aspirationadr supporting its claim that the proper remedy would be to order TDG
accepted backito the program.SeePl.’s Mem. Supp. at 19, Pl’'s Opp’n & Reply at-28. As
the SBA points out, the cases TDG cites involve specifically enumestaiediory deadlines and
do not discuss the deadlines applicable to termination proceedingsroote open ended
“timely manner” language contained in section 124(8D4SeeDef.’s Reply at 15, ECF No. 28.
At the same timehoweverthe SBA also fails to cite any case law or authority to support its
claim that it did not violate the regulation when it waited over gearto issue a respons&ee
Def.’s Mem. Supp. at 2P2.
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DESA or Ms. Sumpter. The agency’s investigation relied on numeroaiseous assumptions,
however, and the portions of the agency’s determination presentesl @ourt rest on
unsupported conclusionsptnsubstantial evidence. But the Court does not conthatehe
agency will be unable to make an appropriate case that the connections bdb@&andiDESA
indicate interdependence. Thus, the Court will not prejudge the merits of anyaatettis SBA

makes on remand based on a different record.

V. CONCLUSION
For theforegoing reason® laintiff's motion for summary judgment (ECF NB4) is
GRANTED, and Defendant’s motion for summary judgment (ECF No. 2ZDENIED. An

order consistent with this Memorandum Opinion is seplgratelcontemporaneously issued.

Dated: May 26, 2016 RUDOLPH CONTRERAS
United States District Judge
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